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To: Planning and Zoning Commissioners 

     

From:  Brad Deets, Development Services Director 

 

Date:  February 9, 2018 

 

Re:  Proposed Prairie Crossing Townhome Rezoning Request 

 

Attach:  

 
 
At the January 9, 2018 Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting, a request was made to rezone 

approximately 8 acres of property that is located at the intersection of NE Horizon Drive and NE 

Archer Avenue from C-4 Office Park Commercial District to R-4 Row Dwelling and Townhome 

Dwelling District.  The applicant has received support of the adjoining single family residential homes 

to the west, however, One Neck Data Center Holdings. LLC, who owns the existing data center to the 

east of the subject property has raised concerns related to the rezoning request.  Their specific concerns 

relate to existing or potential noise that may be generated from the existing data center or future 

expansions of the data center and the potential impact that would have in generating complaints of 

noise from the subject property if it were developed for townhome purposes. 

 

Background:  The subject property was originally a part of what was called the Crossing at Alice’s 

Road which included approximately 160 acres at the corner of Alice’s Road and Hickman Road.  The 

160 acre development was originally zoned for a combination of retail commercial and office 

commercial development.  The One Neck Data Center was approved and construction began in 2008 on 

a portion of the property that was zoned for Commercial Office Park.  The retail property including 

HyVee and West Bank began to develop in 2012.  In 2013, the owner of the property requested 

approval to rezone a large portion of the property for the development of single family homes and 

apartments.  The rezoning was approved and the property has developed as the Prairie Crossing 

neighborhood and the Prairie Grass Apartments (formerly known as the Springs at Waukee).  The 

approximately 8 acre parcel that is the subject of the current rezoning request was left zoned as 

Commercial Office Park.  To date, there have been no requests related to the development of an office 

user within the subject property proposed for rezoning. 

 

As a part of the 2013 residential rezoning, One Neck, was concerned about the impact the residential 

development would have on their operations and their ability to expand in the future.  As a part of the 

discussion, a sound analysis was completed based upon the full build-out of the facility.  A copy of the 

report is attached.  The sound analysis completed at the time, indicated that a sound level of 70 dBA 

could be achieved at the west property line of the data center upon full build out of the facility.  The 

more acceptable sound level at a residential property line is 55 dBA.   

 

The City of Waukee does have a Noise Ordinance, however, it does not specify acceptable decibel 

levels for specific land uses.  It does include provisions for acceptable decibel levels as it pertains to 

amplified sound equipment but that is specific only to when a noise permit is required for special 

events. 
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As a part of the 2013 rezoning approval, the City of Waukee entered into a Memorandum of 

Understanding, which is attached, with One Neck regarding noise.  In the memorandum, the City 

acknowledges a potential sound level of 70 dBA at the property line and the agreement stipulates that 

the City and One Neck will work together in the future to take necessary and reasonable steps to 

mitigate noise levels upon the build out of the facility. 

 

It is staff’s understanding that Alice’s L.C. the owner of the residential development and One Neck 

entered into a private development agreement regarding future mitigation efforts of noise issues.  

Staff’s understanding of the agreement is that an escrow account was established and continues to exist 

for improvements to help in the mitigation of sound if complaints were received from the adjoining 

neighborhood.  To date, staff is not aware of any noise complaints that have been received due to the 

existing data center operation.  It should be noted, that this development agreement did not include the 

property that is subject to the proposed rezoning as that property was left as commercial office at the 

time the 2013 zoning was completed. 

 

Rezoning Request:  One Neck has presented a letter regarding their concerns related to the current 

rezoning request which is dated February 2, 2018 and is attached. 

 

The applicant requesting the rezoning has proposed several options as a means to help mitigate 

concerns related to potential complaints of noise generated by the data center.  Specifically, Alice’s LC 

has proposed the following: 

 

 Incorporate the legal description of the subject property to be rezoned into the existing private 

development agreement. 

 Create a covenant on the property which would go with future sales on the property that 

acknowledges the presence of the data center and the potential for expansion.  The covenant 

would stipulate that the sound emitted from the data center should not be considered a noxious 

or offensive activity. 

 Create a separate Noise Easement which would go with future sales on the property that 

stipulates a maximum level of 70 dBA at the property line without it being considered a 

nuisance. 

 

Staff Analysis and Recommendation:  From a pure land use perspective, staff believes that the 

proposed rezoning request to allow for a townhome development on this specific property is an 

appropriate use.  As the property exists today, it is staff’s belief that there will be little interest in the 

development of this property for commercial office activities.  This is due in large part because of its 

visibility from Alice’s Road, its lack of access to a major corridor and the fact that it is adjacent to 

single family homes. 

 

Typical land use practices utilize townhome and multi-family zoning as a transition zone from 

commercial zoning districts and single family residential zoning districts. 

 

In this specific proposal, certainly concerns related to noise are acknowledged.  Staff would note, 

however, that there are other examples of commercial developments adjacent to residential 

developments which may generate noise that is not acceptable to all individuals. 

 

The applicant has attempted to take necessary steps to acknowledge the potential for noise that will be 

generated by the existing data center and future additions.  These steps will place future owners of the 
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townhome units on notice regarding the existing and future operations of the data center facility.  In 

addition, staff believes that as a part of the development review and site plan review process, additional 

provisions can be discussed related to the layout of the site and including provisions for additional 

berming and landscaping adjoining he property which would also help in mitigating the potential issue. 

 

Subject to the applicant following through with the steps that have been presented to date and 

referenced above, staff is supportive of the proposed rezoning request and would recommend approval. 

 


